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e | R Archaeology of a Legend:

The Lighthouse Community of Barkhamsted, Connecticut

A true lighthouse is a beacon directing the
lost to safe harbor. Its light shines to guide the
return of seafaring travelers to their homes. The
settlement that is the focus of this booklet, though
so named, was not a lighthouse at all, at least not
in the literal sense.

Looking north along the south-flowing West Branch of the Farmington River,
Ragged Mountain looms in the distance. James Chaugham and Molly Barber
Chaugham established the homestead that became the Lighthouse village on
a terrace at the base of Ragged Mountain, adjacent to the Farmington River.

It was, instead, a rural eighteenth- and nine-
teenth-century village made up of a fascinating
mixture of people of Native American, European,
and African descent. In living out their lives on a
hillside terrace adjacent to the Farmington River
in what is now Barkhamsted, Connecticut, they
inadvertently created an archaeological site con-

sisting of the remnants
of their discarded and
broken ceramic dishes
and metal tools, their
abandoned house foun-
dations and stone quar-
ries, their fragmentary
clay smoking pipes,
rusted iron nails, lost
coins, dropped coat but-
tons, and food remains,
as well as the grave-
stones marking their
final resting places.

The archaeological
site, consisting of these
material reflections of

The residents of the Lighthouse built
the foundations of some of their houses
from the outcrops of granite-schist
stone that are scattered across the base
of Ragged Mountain. Here is pictured
one of the sources from which they
quarried their stone. The black and
white rod scale is 1 meter long and the
arrow-scale points north.
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their existence on a hillside in Barkhamsted,
provides the data that allow us to tell their story,
a fascinating tale of a group of materially poor,
ethnically diverse, occasionally maligned settlers
eking out an existence on what ultimately were
the social and economic margins of eighteenth-
and nineteenth-century Connecticut.

The lives of such outcasts are too often neglect-
ed and forgotten when we tell the tale of Ameri-
can history, and they deserve our remembrance
and attention. Recognizing this, the place where

the group lived has been accorded the honor of

being named a State Archaeological Preserve by

the Connecticut Commission on Culture and
Tourism. This small booklet is commited to tell-
ing the story of the Lighthouse community’s in-
habitants and to preserving the memory of James
and Molly Chaugham and their ‘descendants,
whose lives, together, are worthy of consideration
and reflection.

We found a broad array of artifacts during our excavation of the Lighthouse site in 1986, 1990, 1991, and 2009. Here are pictured a) nineteenth-cen-
tury coins including, at the top, a British half-penny token, minted in 1806 or 1807; b) a piece of shell-edge pearlware, in situ; c) a diverse selection of
clothing buttons, mostly brass, some depicting flowers, animals (a camel and a squirrel), and military symbols; d) fragments of smoking pipes, including
one with the name of its manufacturer, Peter Dorni, impressed on the stem; e) rusted nails and a metal wedge.
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This map of
Connecticut and
Rhode Island was
produced in 1758
by the cartographer
Thomas Kitchin

for the London
Magazine. The ver-
sion shown here was
published in 1784.
The map dates to
the approximate
time period when
James Chaugham
left Block Island
(indicated by an
arrow in the lower
right quadrant),
came to Rhode
Island, then moved
to Connecticut
where he met and
then married Molly
Barber. The married
couple then moved
to Ragged Mountain
in the town that was
to become Barkham-
sted (indicated by
an arrow in the
upper left quadrant
of the map).
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The Legend of the Lighthouse

The story of the Lighthouse community was
already the stuff of legend in eighteenth- and
nineteenth-century Connecticut, even before
the village was abandoned. When J.E. Mason, a
reporter for the New Haven Journal, visited and
wrote a two-part article about the community
in 1855, he could legitimately assert that:

.......

century.

Jesse lves was the first proprietor of the Riverton Inn,
shown here in a photograph taken in the early 1900s.
Ives knew the residents of the Lighthouse community and
wrote about them in a journal. Though his journal has dis-
appeared, we have relied on accounts of his descriptions
of the village from those who read it in the nineteenth

“The millionaire in his mansion, with
more money than brains, the laborer in
his cottage, with more children than dol-
lars, have all heard of Barkhamsted Light
House, and considered whether it was a
real or an ideal structure (p. 2).”

In 1952, Connecticut educator, historian, and
writer, Lewis Sprague Mills, compiled the vari-
ous extant versions of the story of the
Lighthouse community and published
his own synthesis in his book, 7he Leg-
end of Barkhamsted Light House. 'The
Mills book is, in fact, a 114-page-long
poetic rendering of the tale (technically,
it is written in the form of a Finnish
epic poem, matching the format of
Longfellow’s Hiawatha) and is based
primarily on:

1) a number of newspaper articles
written by journalists who actually vis-
ited the occupied community and spoke
to its residents in the mid-nineteenth
century,

2) the diary of a local innkeeper who
had regular contact with village residents
in the early through mid-nineteenth
century, (Jesse Ives, of the nearby Riv-
erton Inn),

3) a version based on compiled eye-
witness accounts and an interview with

WM, WALLAGOE LEE

William Wallace Lee was born in
Barkhamsted and served in the Con-
necticut state legislature for the town
of Meriden. Lee wrote the Barkham-
sted centennial historical address in
1879 and provided a detailed descrip-
tion of the Lighthouse story, relying
heavily for much of his information on
the Ives journal with its eyewitness
account of the occupied village.

at least one of the last Lighthouse residents
written as the Barkhamsted Centennial Celebra-
tion, by William Wallace Lee, 1879.

The summary presented by Mills tells the
story of James Chaugham, a young Narragansett
Indian man, who, after leaving his Block Island
home, traveled up the Connecticut River, arriv-
ing in Wethersfield in about 1740, looking for
work and lodging. He found both on the estate
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It was along this stretch of the east bank of the Farmington River
that James Chaugham and Molly Barber Chaugham halted their
flight from Molly’s angry father and established the homestead that
became the Lighthouse community.

of Peter Barber, ostensibly the wealthiest man in
Wethersfield. He also found there a disaffected
young woman, Mary (often called Molly), Peter
Barber’s daughter. Though Molly had a series
of suitors, none met the apparently impossibly
high standards of her father and, frustrated by
this, she threatened (Mills is freely exercising
his poetic license here) to marry whoever might

next seek her hand, “whether white or any color”
(Mills 1952:16).

This poetic rendering of the story sets up the
meeting of Molly with the young Indian man,
his marriage proposal, her acceptance, and their
escape into the wilds of northwestern Connect-
icut. After a short stay at the village of a local
sachem or chief, “Tomo,” in Canton, Connecti-

cut, the newlyweds moved
further into the wilderness,
finally stopping at a terrace
adjacent to the Farming-
ton River and at the base
of what is now known as
Ragged Mountain, in the
town of Barkhamsted. In
that place they determined
to make their stand and cre-
ate a life together.

Mills has Molly recon-
sider her decision to leave
all that was comfortable and
familiar. After all, she has
left her home, friends, and
family to marry and run off
with a virtual stranger who
was both poor and of an-
other race, merely to punish
her father. Even so, she stays with her Narra-
gansett husband and together they persevere in
their isolated homestead.

The newlyweds survive and, in fact, thrive
and soon children are born to them. Ultimately,
in Mills’s telling, and as verified in the primary
document record, James and Molly had eight
children—Solomon, Samuel, Mercy, Meribah,
Hannah, Polly, Elizabeth, and Sally. Seven sur-
vived to adulthood—only Sally died in child-
hood.

Though initially an isolated outpost, the
small Chaugham family enclave became part
of a broader population movement into north-

western Connecticut in the second half of the
eighteenth century. After the old trail located
at the base of Ragged Mountain was improved
for stagecoach traffic, it became part of the
Farmington River Turnpike—a feeder road for
the Albany Turnpike, a major thoroughfare be-
tween Albany and Boston. With its proximity
to the turnpike, the community became part
of a broader social network leading to frequent
contact with outsiders.

Stage coaches would regularly pass by
and, according to the legend, those driv-
ers gave the village its name, which was per-

The Legend of Barkhamsted Light House
author, Lewis Mills, is here shown during
his reading of the book to a group of school
children May 29, 1952, at the Parish House
in Canton Center, Connecticut. The children
sang the “Good Night Prayer” of the Light
House Children.

Lure of the Litchfield Hills, Litchfield
Hills Federation, Dowd Printing Company,
Winsted, Conn.
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ALBANY AND HARTFORD MAIL
STAGE

By way of Pittsfield—Three times a Week
l_jEAVES Albany every Monday, Wednesday, and

riday, and arrives at Pittsfield to lodge: leaves
Pittsficld every Tuesday, Thursday, and Saturday. at
7 o'clock, A.M..and arrives at Hartford at 7 o'clock,
PM.: leaves Hartford every Monday. Wednesday.
and Friday, at 8 o'clock, A.M., and arrives at Pitts-
field at 8 o'clock PM., passing through the Towns
of West-Hartford, Farmington, South Canton,
New-Hartford, Barkhamsted, Colebrook, Sandis-
ficld, Otis, Becket, Lee, Lenox, to Pittsfield, and
meets the Northern Line of Stages for Williams-
town, Bennington and Rutland, (V1.)

Baggage at the risk of the owner.

Books kept at Morgan's United States Hotel, and
Marshall’s Eagle's Tavern, Hartford; at Russell’s
Hotel, Pittsficld, and Rice and Baker's Albany.

T. WADSWORTH., New Hartford=} Pro-
E. KINGSLEY, Becket, }fo':'
H. ROCKWELL, Pittsficld. '
Janvary 25,
th s

The Farmington River Turnpike was
improved for stagecoach travel in 1790,
passing right by the Lighthouse village. It
was the stagecoach drivers, apparently,
who gave the village its name because
it served, metaphorically, as their
“lighthouse”: when they saw the smoke
curling up from the chimneys in the vil-
lage, the drivers knew they were close to
their “port,” the town of New Hartford.
This is a re-creation of an advertisement
for the coach service.

Stagecoach schedule is from the
Connecticut Courant, Feb 1, 1831.

plexing for its location was more than sixty
miles from the coast. These drivers treated the
village as their metaphorical “lighthouse,” the
home fires of the inhabitants serving as a bea-
con in the wilderness and alerting them to the
fact that they were in proximity to their “port,”
the nearby town of New Hartford, just a few
miles away, where horses and people could rest
before continuing on to Hartford, an additional
twenty-five miles distant. These drivers began
referring to the community as a “lighthouse”
and the name stuck.

With seven adult children living in the com-
munity, it should come as no surprise that some
of those who passed by the community met, fell
in love with, and married into the Chaugham
family. Some of the married couples remained
in the village, establishing their own house-
holds, and then having children of their own.
With this, the village grew in size and popula-
tion, becoming a recognized community within
the borders of the town of Barkhamsted.

James died in 1790, in his early eighties and
Molly lived well past her one hundredth birth-
day, dying in 1818 while living in the home of
one of her daughters, Polly, and her husband,
William Wilson. Both of them, as well as many
of their descendants, were buried in the com-
munity cemetery located just a few hundred feet
from the heart of the settlement. Many of James
and Molly’s grandchildren and great-grandchil-
dren ultimately moved out of the village, settling
in nearby Connecticut hill towns, west, across

the New York State border, and then further
away still where they represent, in the words of
Mills, “an ever widening circle” of descendants

of the Narragansett man, James Chaugham, and
his white wife, Molly Barber.

By the mid-1860s, various economic and so-
cial forces caused the inhabitants of the Light-
house community to sell off their land holdings
on Ragged Mountain and to abandon their
village, which, no longer an active community,
passed into legend and the archaeological re-
cord.

~ THE LEGEND OF
BARKHAMSTED LIGHT HOUSE

A Tale from the Litchfiehd Hills of Conmcoticut
By
LEWIS SPRAGUE MILLS, MA.

Schaal 'ﬁ“i" for the Connecticat Baard
Education, 1908-1530; Author af m
Covernmant in the. United Binbes™, "A
Children: . e Fist School Yeue™, “Munual for
Towcharu for A Book for Childien o the Fist
Voar™s “Clikgenakip und Government i Coonesthost™
and “The Story of Connectieut™; Edior of “The Lure

of the bifieid Hills"™ 19391552,

|

Copyright 1952
Lewis Spragoe Mills, publisher

Title page of The Legend of
Barkhamsted Light House by
Lewis Sprague Mills, Lewis
Sprague Mills, publisher, 1952.
Mills deserves enormous credit
for compiling disparate original
sources about the Lighthouse and
keeping alive the story of the
community.
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Digging in the Documents:
The Paper Trail of the Lighthouse Legend

Primary documents support most of the
key elements of the legend of the Lighthouse as

presented by Mills.

For example, the Chaugham name

(spelled variously) definitely turns
up in Narragansett territory, includ-
ing Block Island, where the legend
traces James. On that island, there is
a Chagum Pond, named for a local
Narragansett resident.

In a document dated to October 9,
1711, it is noted that an “Indian Man,”
Samuel Chagum, was arrested for
stealing a canoe. In an even more in-
triguing document dating to Septem-
ber 11, 1713, the last will and testa-
ment of Block Island resident Samuel
Sands, mention is made of “an Indian
boy named James, the son of Priscilla.”
James is bequeathed by Sands to his
daughter, and money is provided for
his care until the boy’s seventh birth-
day. At the right place, at the right
time, of the correct age, and with the
right first name, there is a strong likeli-
hood that the Block Island Indian boy

James is James Chaugham.

There appears to be one other historical men-
tion of the young man who very well might be
James Chaugham. There was a notice published
in the Rhode Island Gazette dated October 3,
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In this 1789 deed, “James Chaugum an Indian” transfers title to land
located in New Hartford, Connecticut, to his wife “Mary Chaugum.” At the
bottom of the deed you will note that this is the land that he purchased
from Cornelius Indian in 1771.

1732, of a runaway slave, “a Spanish Indian Man
named James, about 20 years of age, somewhat
round shoulder'd, of short Stature, pale Com-
plection, and speaks very good English.”

Along with having the right first

{ name and being about the right age,

there has long been an undercurrent
in the legend that asserts that James
Chaugham’s mother, Priscilla, was of
Spanish descent. It would appear that
here we have picked up James's paper
trail, and that his escape from servi-
tude in Rhode Island set the stage for
his journey to Connecticut and into
the arms of the white woman, Molly
Barber. The reward for James’s capture
and return to his Mistress, Mrs. Eliz-
abeth Cole of South-Kingston, was
five pounds. Luckily, no one seems to
have cashed in on that offer, and the
“Spanish Indian man” named James
was able to make his way safely into
Connecticut.

Maddeningly, Mary or Molly Bar-
ber cannot yet be tracked down in
the documentary record. She almost
certainly was not from Wethersfield
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(that town’s records are quite inclusive and com-
plete, but neither she nor her father, Peter Bar-
ber, are listed in any of them). The identity of
Molly and where she originated is an ongoing

mystcry.

James Chaugham shows up definitively in
Connecticut when he begins officially to accu-
mulate land in New Hartford and Barkhamsted.
For example, on December 11, 1770, Noadiah
Hooker sold a small parcel of land in New Hart-
ford to “James Chaughom” for £5, 10 shillings.
Less than a year later, Cornelius Indian sold to
“James Chaughom, an Indian,” 40 acres of land
in New Hartford, for £15.The earliest record of
James purchasing land in Barkhamsted is a deed
dated March 3, 1779, recording the sale for £21
of 70 acres to James Chogam that “lyeth at a
place called Ragged Mountain.”

Then, in 1782, 49 acres in Barkhamsted
are purchased, not by “James Chogam” but by
“Samuel Choggum,” his son. This land is de-
scribed in the deed as “being and lying most of
it on Ragged Mountain, so called.” Based on
the names of the sellers (technically, the grant-
ors) of the land and the original distribution of
Barkhamsted lands to the residents of the Con-
necticut River town of Windsor (the land was
free; owners had only to pay the taxes on the
property), we have determined that these land
purchases on Ragged Mountain include all of
the original lot II1-91 and much of lot I11-92.

Official documents also record the activity of
James and Molly’s children. Direct documen-
tary evidence—for example, church records—as

TR
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This is part of the original proprietor’s map for Barkhamsted demarcating the lots that Windsor
residents were offered, free of charge, contingent upon their agreement to pay property taxes.
All of Lot 111-91 (on March 3, 1779) and part of Lot 11l-92 (in 1782) are recorded as having been
purchased by, respectively, James Chaugham and his son Samuel. The remains of the community
and our archaeological excavations were located on these two lots next to the West Branch of
the Farmington River.
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well as informal accounts written by neighbors
of the community list the names of the spouses
of James and Molly’s children: Solomon mar-
ried “Miss Green” of Sharon, Connecticut; Sam-
uel married “Miss Hayes”; Mercy married Isaac
Jacklin (a free man of African descent who had
been an indentured servant in Hartford); Polly
married William Wilson; Hannah married Ru-
ben Barber from Canton, Connecticut; Merib-
ah married Samuel Lawrence (identified in the
documents as an Indian); Elizabeth remained
unmarried and, as mentioned, Sally died in
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The probate for the estate of “Mary Chogum”
was recorded in 1821. The total value of her
estate was appraised at $142.25, the bulk of
which was concentrated in fourteen acres of
land valued at $10 per acre. Note that Riverton
Inn proprietor, Jesse lves, is one of the apprais-
ers of the estate.

childhood.

Additional
records kept by
the town clerk
of Barkhamsted
record the births
of subsequent
generations
of James and
Molly’s descen-
dants. Some of
these  records
even document
their vocations.
The  occupa-
tions listed for
some of the
descendants
are: day laborer,
farmer, chopper,
odd jobs, basketmaker, and, rather humorously,
vagabond.

Barkhamsted.

Molly’s death is recorded in several newspa-
per death notice pages (including those in the
Connecticut Courant, the Connecticut Mirror, the
Connecticut Herald, the Hartford Times) as well

The Baker and Ti lden Con necticut map of 1876 notes the locatlon of houses
mills, cemeteries, and lighthouses using standardized icons. With one exception,
and not unexpectedly, the lighthouse icons on the map are found along the
coast. The one exception is the lighthouse icon located on Ragged Mountain in

as the death records of the Barkhamsted Con-
gregational Church.

All sources agree that Molly died early in 1818
and they list her age as being somewhere between
100 and 104. Upon her death, the probate court
listed her worldly possessions; Molly left a mea-
ger estate that included an iron kettle, two chests
of drawers, and 14 acres of land assessed at $10
per acre. The total value of
her estate was calculated to
be $142.25. Probate records

Mary Choggum s death notice was listed in the Barkhamsted Congrega-

tional Church records, February 6, 1818, age 104 years. She died at her \yere materially poor.
son-in-law’s home.

and, as we shall see, the ar-
chaeological record, indicate
that the Lighthouse people
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Digging in the Dirt:

The Archaeology of the Lighthouse Commu nity

Modem detectives investigate the scene of a
crime by collecting the physical evidence uninten-
tionally left behind by the perpetrators along with

their victims.

Archaeologists, working as the equivalent of
detectives, investigate, not the scene of a crime, but
the scene of a life. We search for, collect, and ana-
lyze the physical evidence of that life unintention-
ally left behind by the people who lived it.

CONTOLR INTENVAL
im

Key 1o Caltural Features o Excavations
# Quarried Stone % Swne Cirde ¥ Eah Berm Oamx2m
B sSheet Metal » Sune Pilke M Semi-circke of Stones O jmxIm
*  Seall Depression B Quauny O swne lined foundations ® Tes Pits
®  Swone Mostar +F  Swmewall B Unilined Cellar Holes

O Charcoal Kilns

Map of the 1991 archaeological excavation of the Lighthouse site. Ten house founda-
tions, four charcoal kilns, and the cemetery are located on the map.

Two archaeology students use a line level to
measure the depth of artifacts in a one-meter
by one-meter excavation unit at the site,

The inhabitants of the Lighthouse community
left behind material remains, physical objects that
they lost, discarded, put away for safe keeping, or
simply abandoned. In 1986, 1990, 1991, and 2009
archaeological excavations were conducted at the
Lighthouse by crews from Central Connecticut
State University (see the acknowledgments).

Led by archaeologist Kenny Feder, these
excavations recovered the material remains of
the possessions of the Lighthouse people. The
results of those excavations have enabled us to
reveal, as historical archaeologist James Deetz
(1980) describes such work, the “texture” of the
lives of the residents of the community.
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Pedestrian Survey

Wc began fieldwork at the Lighthouse site
with an intensive walkover called a “pedestrian
survey” searching for surface indications of hu-
man activity. In that walkover we noted the fol-
lowing above-ground features:

1. 'The remnants of ten structures. Six of the
bases were demarcated by stone, four of which
were outlined only by earth berms.

2. Four charcoal kilns. These are features
where village residents produced charcoal in
large quantities. Cut hardwood was arranged in
large domes, and then through controlled burn-

ing most of the moisture present in the wood
was released producing a light and hot-burning

fuel.

3. A stone mortar, likely used in grinding
corn.

4.  Five stone quarries where the raw mate-
rial used in the six stone-lined foundations had
been collected.

5. A well.

6. A cemetery consisting of a little more

than 90 unmarked, upright stones.

The foundations and cellar holes encountered
during our surface survey lend some support to
the description of the Lighthouse structures
as written by a reporter for the local paper, the
Mountain County Herald, in an article published
in 1854: “said huts are built after a style of ar-
chitecture about half-way between a wood pile
and a log fence.”

Indeed, the footprints of the houses were
irregular and quite small, nothing close to the
standard 16-foot-square building units of typical
Euroamerican architecture of the time. Though
the structures themselves are gone, from the

We 1dent1f|ed the cellar holes and foundatlons of ten structures at the Lighthouse. Some l1ke the one on the Ieft had substantlal cut stone

foundations. Others, like the one on the right, were little more than depressions demarcated by earth berms. The black and white rod is a
one-meter (a little more than three feet) long scale.
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descriptions of those who saw them, it is clear
that no sawn, dimensional lumber was used; the
houses appear to have been constructed from
raw logs.

As noted, six of the houses had stone foun-
dations and evidence indicates that the com-
ponent stones were quarried on site. There are
at least five separate and distinct stone quarries
at the Lighthouse where rock was worked that
had weathered off the face of Ragged Mountain
and then accumulated at its base.

At the quarry sites, 119 drill marks were
found. Evidence indicates that the rock was
worked with a three-quarter inch steel rod
called a star-nosed drill.

One worker would hold the rod in place while

Lewis Mills mentioned the existence in the
village of an “ancient mortar” for grinding
corn. This is what Mills was referring to, and
it shows clear evidence of having been worn
down by heavy grinding action, almost certainly
with another, hand-held stone (usually called a
“mano”). The black and white arrow (pointing
north) is a 40 cm (15.7 inches) long scale.

There are four large charcoal mounds located at the site,

the remains of the process of burning off the moisture in
hardwoods. The charcoal was used to produce a hard, dense,
and relatively light fuel, commonly for use in iron furnaces in
what became a major industry in northwest Connecticut in the
nineteenth century. The mound is located in the center of the
photograph (a large tree can be seen standing in the center of
the mound). The arrow points to the “gutter,” a circular trench
serving as a firebreak that was dug around the mound of cut
wood.

North of the main part of the village, a well
was identified in our pedestrian survey.
Test excavations revealed the presence of
nineteenth-century ceramics and a heavy
brass button traceable to a manufacturer in
England and imported to America sometime
between 1800 and 1828. No house remains
were found in the immediate vicinity,
though a number of stone piles were
located nearby.

These are the remains of large
pieces of charcoal excavated from
the base of one of the charcoal
mounds at the site.
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a second would hammer it with a mallet. After
each strike, the holder would lift the rod, turn it
a quarter turn, replace it on the stone, whereup-
on the other worker would strike it again. This
process was continued until, as the quarry marks
show, a hole was produced of about 7 centime-
ters (2.75 inches) depth, and about 2 centime-
ters (.75 inches) in diameter.

Once a line of quarry holes about 20 cen-
timeters (a little less than 8 inches) apart had
been drilled in this fashion, thin metal leaves
called feathers were placed in each hole, posi-
tioned along the desired line of breakage.

Finally, metal wedges were placed in the

holes and struck repeatedly
with a mallet. Slowly, the
rock would begin to break
along a line from each hole
to the next and, ultimately,
the rock would cleave in two,
producing a flat edge and a
90 degree angle.

It was a slow and tedious
process, one now evidenced
in the series of quarries
found at the site as well as
by our recovery of one of the
metal wedges whose size is a
precise match for the quarry
holes.

Evidence of stone quarrying was found in five locations at the

site. The two stones shown here were split apart by the technique
mentioned in the text. The white arrows point to three individual

quarry marks on the large stone. The black and white rod is a one-
meter-long (a little more than three-feet-long) scale.

Along with quarried stone, Lighthouse

One of the quarry marks is
shown here. The mean length
of the quarry marks was
about 7.0 centimeters (2.75
inches) and 2.0 centimeters
(.75 inches) in diameter.

The iron wedge found in one of the cellar holes
was a perfect match for the drill mark seen in a
quarried stone found in that same foundation.
Wedges like this one were placed in the drilled
holes made in the bedrock and then pounded in
order to cleave the rock apart.

residents produced a series of ten stone cairns
where they piled small field stones on top of
larger pieces of bedrock. This may have been
simply the result of field clearing, but they
may have had some other, as yet unknown
purpose or ceremonial significance.
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1930s fence trench o
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Excavation

extent of the site as defined [T
by the presence of the foun- [ "
dations and cellar holes
identified in the pedestrian

Archacologists share in common the motto
of ConEdison, the electric utility in New York
City when they are compelled to explain why
they are constantly blocking and rerouting ve-

survey.
hicular traffic on Manhattan: “Dig We Must.” 4
In order to illuminate the lives lived by past From these excavations
people, we too need to dig. we have amassed an arti-

fact assemblage consisting
of more than 12,500 items
including dish fragments,
iron nails, shards of win-

We have excavated more than thirty one-
meter-square excavation units and fifteen two-
meter-square units, scattered across the spatial

Finding and recovering artifacts is just the first in a series of steps
conducted during an archaeological research project.

= » A : 5 % o
Archaeological excavation is a time-consuming and meticulous
process. Each artifact is measured in place as the soil is slowly peeled
back using hand tools. All soil is passed through hardware cloth
screening (here, with 1/8th inch mesh) to make certain that nothing is
lost during excavation.

Back in the lab, recovered specimens are washed,
catalogued, and then examined.
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Lighthouse Artifact Assemblage
_ Adifact Count Percent of Total
Ceramics 4903 39.13
Ppor———————@w——— 33—
Coins 5 0.04
Glass:
— Windowglass— 750 589
Bottle glass 881 7.03
—— lampglass— 745 595 —
Glass beads 4 0.03
Unidentifiable/Burned —— 461 368
Gun related 45 0.36
SomeoeE—————————7:-———— —D57-———
Buttons 179 1.43
Metaf fragments— =
Nails 2456 19.60
Cutlery = — s
Slate pencils 3 0.02
Total 12529 100.00

artifact assemblage included lots of manu-
factured items which, though inexpensive,
nevertheless required some level of wealth to
obtain.

The artifact assemblage found at the Light-
house reflects the development of the village
from the isolated outpost of a married couple
to a rccognizcd community in northwestern
Connecticut. This community was economi-
cally connected to its immediate neighbors
and, ultimately, tied into a world economic
system, especially after improvement of the
Farmington River Turnpike and the attendant
regular stage coach traffic past the Lighthouse
village in the late eighteenth century. By the
early nineteenth century, a wide variety of im-

ported European goods, likely carried along

A breakdown of the artifact assemblage.

dow, bottle, and lamp glass, gun flints and gun
parts, buttons, and coins (see artifact assemblage
above).

The Lighthouse village was an economically
impoverished community, one at least initially
purposely isolated from the outside world. And
make no mistake; the artifacts recovered in ex-
cavating the site reflect a clear lack of wealth
among the inhabitants. There were no complete
sets of fancy dishware, no silverware, no gold
jewelry, in fact, there was little finery reflected
in the plain, utilitarian material culture revealed
in our excavations.

At the same time, however, there isn't evi-
dence of abject poverty either. The Lighthouse

the new turnpike, were being used and dis-

carded at the Lighthouse village.
More than 4,000 of the 12,529 artifacts

recovered were fragments of ceramics, dishes,
bowls, teacups and saucers. None of the ceram-
ics were especially expensive, and we recovered a
number of ordinary wares including stoneware,
hand-painted polychrome ware, Jackfield, and

transfer print whiteware.

Several of the dish fragments found during
excavation included maker’s marks, identifying
the name and location of the ceramics manufac-
turers who produced the dishware found at the
site, including John Ridgway, Ralph Clews, and
Thomas Mayer. All three of these potters made
a type of dishware called “Canova’ or “Canovan”
sometime between 1818 and 1838. Canova tech-

nically was a transfer print whiteware with nau-
turalistic images of people, boats, trees, and as-
sorted other images rendered in black on a white
background. We found numerous fragments of
Canova ware across the extent of the site.

Makers marks like these enable us
to determine the sources and ages of
the ceramics used by the Lighthouse
inhabitants. Most of the maker’s
marks shown here are of Canova
ware, a type of ceramic made in
England in the first two decades of
the nineteenth century.
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Somctimes archaeological work is similar

to solving a puzzle and the archaeologist must
put together metaphorical pieces of the puzzle
of a site. In some instances, however, it is more
than a metaphor and the archaeologist must
really join pieces of artifacts to solve a puzzle.

One member of the 1991 field crew, Jeff
Dahlstrom, was working on the material from
an excavation unit immediately south and east
of Structure 6 when he came upon a piece of
whiteware dish of a style typical of the early
and middle years of the nineteenth century.
On one face, it bore a transfer print design, an
innovation of the nineteenth century, where
an often finely wrought pattern or picture is
printed onto the body of the ceramic and then
covered with a clear glaze.

On the reverse side of this particular sherd,
there was a part of a maker’s mark, the name
and logo of the company that produced the
artifact. All we could initially discern was “...
ANOVA.” Beneath that were the letters L-
O-N-G-P. At the time, we had no idea what
“.ANOVA’ or “LONGP” meant.

At the same time, another crew member,
Cathy Labadia, was working on the mate-
rial from another excavation unit, immediately
south and west of Structure 5, downslope from
Jeft’s unit and about 125 feet away. Earlier that

A Ceramic Puzzle

day she had found a small sherd with a part
of a maker’s mark with the potters name “T.
MAYER?” clearly visible. She had catalogued
the piece, and put it away, hoping that perhaps
the microscope might help tell her more about
the mark. When she glanced across the lab and
spotted the sherd from Jeft’s unit, she imme-
diately recognized the pattern and color of the
transfer print design on the front of the sherd
as being similar to those on the one she had
processed earlier in the day. She asked me to
bring over the piece so she could compare it
to the fragment from her unit. As soon as I
handed it to her, she told me that she was cer-
tain that her fragment, from a square some 125
feet away, was from the same dish and that, in
fact, it would fit together with the piece from
Jeft’s unit.

‘The two pieces, indeed, fit precisely togeth-
er, providing us with a nearly complete mak-
er's mark. It read: CANOVA T. MAYER -
LONGPORT. This was more than enough in-
formation to allow us to track down the maker
of the dish. He was Thomas Mayer, a well-
known potter in Staffordshire, England in the

first half of the nineteenth century. “Canova”

is the name of one of the ceramic patterns he
used—in this case a transfer-print design with
scenes of European temples or churches, boats,
and gardens. Thomas Mayer owned a pottery
in “Longport,” Staffordshire between 1826

and 1838. That is ccrtairﬂy when the plate,
whose fragments we found at the Lighthouse,

was made.

Front and back of the Canova ware plate made
by Thomas Mayer of Longport, Staffordshire,
England,
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Buttons i
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presence of such a large num-
ber of pipe fragments indicates,
quite obviously, that smoking
tobacco was common at the

3
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3 14 least after a time, the inhabit-
o ants of the Lighthouse had ac-
: 1 cess to manufactured items like
2 8 pipes which they could acquire
: i through trade.
el
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During the course of exca-
B8 170

vation, we recovered five gun-
flints, seventeen balls of lead
shot, five percussion caps, sev-
eral pieces of lead from shot,
and one gun part called a friz-
zen.Gunflints are small, worked

the dateable buttons reflected
styles and technologies trace-
able to the nineteenth century
and 48 of those (55% of the 88
dateable buttons) were manu-
factured almost certainly after 1837.

Smoking Pipes

Another very common artifact recovered at
the Lighthouse was fragments of kaolin (tech-
nically it’s ball clay, a fine, white clay) smoking
pipes. These commonplace, long-stemmed white
pipes are familiar to any visitor to a colonial
restoration. They were originally manufactured
in England at the end of the sixteenth century

The button assemblage from the Lighthouse excavation. Because certain types of
buttons were made during very narrow time periods, their presence can be tightly
correlated to the occupation of the village.

when smoking the tobacco brought back to Eu-
rope from the Americas became popular.

Such pipes were quite inexpensive so even
quite poor people could afford them and they
are quite abundant at the site. Among the 447
smoking pipe fragments recovered were pipe
bowls and parts of their long, tapering stems.
Some of the bowls bore various designs, and
three of the stems possessed the name of the
same manufacturer: Peter Dorni. (An addi-
tional pipe bore only the letter “D” and that
almost certainly is another Dorni pipe.) The

pieces of flint used in flintlock
firearms. Flintlock guns and
rifles replaced matchlock guns
where a burning fuse was used
to ignite the gunpowder that
powered the shot or bullet. In a flintlock, a piece
of flint held tight in a little vise on the gun is
cocked in a spring powered device. Pulling the
trigger releases the lock on the spring and the
flint smashes down onto a steel platformlocated
on the frizzen, producing a spark which ignites
the gunpowder on the pan below the frizzen,
which then explodes, propelling the shot or bul-
let through the barrel of the gun or rifle.

Based on the type of raw flint used and the
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shape it had been chipped into, it was deter-
mined that four of the recovered gunflints are
English and one is French. Three of the English
as well as the French flint are of a size and shape
that conforms to nineteenth century pistols.
The other English flint is larger and probably
was part of a long gun or rifle. The frizzen is
also almost certainly dateable to the mid-nine-
teenth century.

Coins

Five intact coins were recovered in our exca-
vation of the site, all in the same excavation unit
located within Structure 3. All five can be dated
to the nineteenth century (see the section on
dating later in this chapter). The oldest of these
coins is a British half-penny token. These were
minted only in 1806 and 1807. Obviously, this
half-penny could have ended up in Structure 3
only at some point after its mint date.

The highly weathered half-penny

token (seen here on the left) is shown
adjacent to a well-preserved example of
the same coin (on the right). If you look
closely, you can see on the specimen
recovered at the Lighthouse, the back
of King George’s head, as is clearly
visible on the specimen on the right.

Food Remains

More than 1100 animal bone fragments
were recovered in our excavations, about 75% of
which exhibited evidence of food preparation,
including cut marks and burning. Unfortunate-
ly, most of these bones were badly fragmented
during food preparation and suffered further
deterioration in New England’s acidic forest
soils. So, though we know that the Lighthouse
people certainly included meat in their diet
—some of which they likely hunted with the
firearms we know they possessed—most of the
bone remains are unidentifiable as to species. Of
the very small percentage of bone that could be
identified (3%), most are from white-tail deer
and the rest are from small mammals and fish.
A handful of cow bones round out the faunal
assemblage. The recovery of gun flints and fire-
arm parts suggest that such weapons were used
in subsistence pursuits.

Though the residents of the village might
have obtained beef from a local butcher, we do
know that they also raised cattle themselves.
James Chaugham registered an “earmark” pat-
tern for his animals. An earmark is the equiva-
lent of a cattle brand, marking ownership of an
animal; instead of burning a mark into a cow’s
hide, an owner cut the animal’s ear in a distinc-
tive way; identifying it as his own.

The Chaughams may have been poor, but
along with ceramic dishes, plates, and bowls, we
know that they also possessed cutlery. We found
the remains of six spoons, five knives, and two
forks in the excavation. Some of these pieces

were nearly complete. We also found highly
fragmented remains of utensils too fragmentary
to identify more specifically.

Just as important as providing us with some
particulars about the lives of the Lighthouse
residents, the material record provides us with
a visceral impression of their lives. From a ma-
terial standpoint, the Lighthouse people had
few creature comforts and, we know from the
reports of visitors, that, from the perspective of
middle class Euro-Americans, they had very
little of value. However, it is important to note
that there is no evidence of bitterness, resent-
ment, or envy on their part concerning their ap-
parent poverty. As one reporter phrased it:

“they apparently receive as much enjoy-
ment in their wild and uncouth gambols
upon the rugged mountains and rocks
that surround their isolated habitations, as
those who revel in all the luxurious indo-
lence that wealth can furnish.” (Mountain
County Herald, September 30, 1854.)

A representation of the earmark registered to
James Chaugham and with which he identified
his cattle. From Barkhamsted town records.
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An Ever-Widening Circle

At the end of the first half of the nineteenth century,
slowly but surely, the descendants of James Chaugham and
Molly Barber began moving away from their ancestral vil-
lage. Following spouses and seeking work or land, many of
James and Molly’s grandchildren and great-grandchildren
left their Ragged Mountain community for other commu-
nities in Connecticut, New York state, or even further west.
By 1840, probably only about twenty or thirty people re-
mained and even the land on which the community stood
had been sold off to a local judge, Hiram Goodwin, who
allowed the remaining residents to continue living on what
was now his land. We know that some stayed and there are
newspaper accounts of descendants like Polly Elwell and
her large brood of children still at the Lighthouse in 1854.
Soon thereafter, however, even she left and the village was
abandoned entirely, probably no later than 1860.

The village may have been abandoned, but the de-
scendants of James and Molly didn’t disappear, though
it is fairly common to read among the death notices and
obituaries in Connecticut newspapers in the early twen-
tieth century, note taken of the passing of “the last of the
Lighthouse tribe.”

Having met with, conducted email correspondence
with, telephoned, and been befriended by descendants of
James and Molly even now well into the end of the first
decade of the twenty-first century, I can confidently state
that, like the rumors of Mark Twains demise in 1897,
claims of the death of the Lighthouse people have been
greatly exaggerated.

Lewis Mills had it precisely right when he wrote of them
in 1952, describing the Lighthouse ancestors as “an ever-
widening circle.”

James and Molly’s descendants are alive and well,

John Elwell (b. 1815) and
daughter Lurie, Nepaug, CT.

Sol (b. 1828) and
: Mary (Wilson)
Webster

& Til Elwell,
g (b. 1850)
early 20th
century
photo

ndian Chiel’s Grandson and Wile
o Mark 65th Wedding Anniversar

Ada Mae Barber
(b. 1887)

Fred and Mary & . !
Webster Frederick (b. 1883) and Stanl

(m. 1878) (b. 1892) Webster

ey
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living in Connecticut, New York state, and as far
afield as Wisconsin and Louisiana. Many of them
are becoming increasingly aware of their family his-
tory and are, themselves, searching for their hereto-
fore lost ancestors.

getically dived into the task of “digging through the
documents” of her own Lighthouse ancestors. Not
gone, not extinct, not dead, the descendants of James
and Molly continue their part of the American sto-

I have had the privilege
of meeting Mr. Ray Ellis
and Mr. Henry Messenger,
both direct descendants of
Susan Webster, the “nearly
white” little girl born in
1858. 1 have also had the
great fortune to hear from
Sherry Carsten, and Mrs.

Ray Smalley.

And now, it has been a
great pleasure to commu-
nicate with Coni Dubois
of Louisiana who has ener-

(top row) are ninth-generation descendants of
James and Molly. Coni’s children (middle row)
and Rex’s children (bottom row) are tenth-
generation descendants. The Dubois and Allen
families reside in Louisiana.

ry; Coni’s and her brother Rex Allen Jr's children are
10th generation descendants of James Chaugham
and Molly Barber.

Ray Ellis, descendant of
Susan Webster.

Three generations of descendants of
Hannah Chaugham and her husband,
Reuben Barber: Elmer Robinson, his adult
daughter Jennifer Frank, and grand-
daughter Amanda Frank.

Archaeological site: Anyplace where people in the past
lived, worked, or carried out a task and left behind physical
evidence of their activity. The physical remnants reflecting
the activities of a past community.

Artifact: Anything, usually something portable, that a
person made and used in the past. A tool.

Canova ware: A variety of transfer-print whiteware

Glossary

ceramics made in the first half of the nineteenth century
employing a black or dark blue ink on white background,
depicting idyllic scenes of temples or churches.

Charcoal kiln: Charcoal was an important fuel source
in Connecticut’s iron industry in the nineteenth century.
Kilns were, effectively, large, dome-shaped piles of wood,
surrounded by a fire-break or “gutter.” There were four

charcoal kilns identified at the Lighthouse site.

Feathers: Thin sheets of metal placed in holes
drilled in stone used, in part, to direct the cracking
of the stone from adjacent drilled holes. A metal
wedge was placed within the chamber produced by
the two feathers positioned in the drilled hole and
then struck repeatedly until the stone cracked.
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A number of historical sources, including the

dates to November 1817.

Barkhamsted birth records, 1847-1848, in which the vocations of the parents are listed, indicate
that some people at the Lighthouse were “basketmakers.” Here, in the 1850 U.S. Census for
Barkhamsted, we see that a number of Lighthouse residents, including Joseph Elwell and his son,
Joseph, Jr., and John Elwell are listed as “basketmakers.”

Pictured above left, is a splint basket made by a Lighthouse community descendant. Local
historian, Doug Roberts, has a collection of more than two dozen such baskets collected by his
family in the nineteenth century. A newspaper clipping found in the interior fabric of the basket
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Flindock firearms: Firearms that ignited the gun pow-
der that propelled the bullet or shot by striking a piece of
flint against a piece of steel.

Frizzen: The part of a flintlock gun against which the
flint strikes, producing the necessary spark to produce the
energy for propelling the shot.

Gun flint: Small, worked pieces of flint used in flintlock
firearms to produce the spark that ignited the powder, pro-
ducing the energy that propelled the shot.

Hand-painted polychrome: A variety of whiteware.
Designs were hand-painted on the body of the ceramic and
glaze was applied on top.

Jackfield: A type of ceramic with a highly glossy; black
glaze that mimicked the look of Japanese lacquer ware.
Jackfield was produced in England beginning in the mid-
eighteenth century.

Kaolin pipe: Smoking pipes made from a fine white
“kaolin” clay. First manufactured in England in the closing
years of the sixteenth century, kaolin pipes, with their long
white stems, were inexpensive, fragile, and essentially dis-
posable.

Maker’s mark: A mark placed on ceramics by the
manufacturer. Such marks may include the manufacturer’s
name, logo, and the name of the type of ware. These marks
are very useful in dating historical sites.

Mohegan: Native people of central Connecticut. Some
members of this tribe became residents of the Lighthouse

community.

Narragansett: Native people of Rhode Island and
Block Island. James Chaugham, patriarch of the Light-
house community, was a Narragansett Indian from Block
Island. Though some of their ancestors where white, some

black, and some Mohegan, many descendants of James

Chaugham identified themselves as being Narragansett.

Pedestrian survey: The process of searching for archae-
ological material by a walkover and visual inspection of an
area or site. Pedestrian surveys are most useful where past
people built durable structures and where natural processes
have not served to cover up site remains.

Primary documents: Those items in historical research
that are contemporary with the time or place being stud-
ied.

Probate: Legal procedure in which the deceased’s last
will and testament is read and its validity assessed.

State Archaeological Preserve: An official designa-
tion established by the State of Connecticut to recognize
archaeological sites that mark places important in our state’s
history. The Lighthouse was named a State Archaeological
Preserve on December 3, 2008.

Stoneware: Dense, heavy ceramic characterized by a
grey, brown, or buff body. Salt glaze finish with an orange
peel texture was common until the 1800s. After 1810,
brown Albany slip was common on vessel interiors. Stone-
ware dates back into the sixteenth century in Europe and
was manufactured in North America by the middle of the

eighteenth century.

Transfer-print whiteware: A process patented in 1756,
used on English porcelain by 1760, on unrefined earthen-
ware by 1780; and as an underglaze on refined earthenware
in 1783. A design in ink is transfered from an engraved cop-
per plate to transfer paper, and then to a ceramic vessel. The
vessel is then glazed. Dark blue transfer prints were popular
in America from 1818 through the 1820s. Other colors, in-
cluding red, green, brown, and purple, were popular from
the late 1820s through the 1840s. Since this time, transfer
printing has continued to have periods of popularity.

Vital records: Records of births, marriages, and deaths
kept by towns, counties, states, and the federal government.
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are listed on the National Register of Historic Places  is private or public property. The National Register

and/or the State Register of Historic Places qualify  is the official Federal list of districts, sites, buildings,

for designation as a Preserve, whether or not theland  structures, and objects significant in American his-
tory, architecture, archaeology, engineering, and
culture worthy of preservation. These contrib-
ute to an understanding of the historical and
cultural foundations of the nation. Similarly,
the State Register of Historic Places is a census
of historic and archaeological resources that are
integral to the development of Connecticut’s
distinctive character.

State Archaeological Preserves were established
by the Connecticut Legislature as a mechanism to
protect significant archaeological sites. The sites that

The Connecticut Commission on Culture
& Tourism is empowered to designate archae-
ological sites as Preserves (S.G.S. Section10-
384). The Commission, in coordination with
the Office of State Archaeology and, when ap-
propriate, the Native American Heritage Ad-
visory Council, works with property owners to
nominate significant archaeological sites as Ar-
chaeological Preserves. The Commission is also
charged with maintaining the master listing of
all Archaeological Preserves.

Preserves recognize both the educational
and cultural value, as well as the fragile nature,
of archaeological resources. Many of Con-
necticut’s Preserves are on private land and fall
under the protection of property owner rights.
In addition, Connecticut law provides that, re-
gardless of whether a Preserve is on private or
public land, no person shall “excavate, damage,
or otherwise alter or deface the archaeological
integrity or sacred importance” of a Preserve.
Connecticut General Statutes Section 10-390
provides significant penalties for vandalism
and the unlawful collecting of archaeological
remains from State Archaeological Preserves.




A small, unnamed stream cascades across a bedrock outcrop i

mmediately

above three of the

Lighthouse houses. The stream provided fresh water to the village’s residents.

Dan Forrest

Staff Archaeologist

Commission on Culture & Tourism
State Historic Preservation Office

One Constitution Plaza, 2nd Floor
Hartford, Connecticut 06103
Phone: 860-256-2761

Email: Daniel.forrest@ct.gov
www.cultureandtourism.org

Z'S
Nz

Connecticut Commission
on Culture & Tourism

Funded in part
by Connecticut
Commission on Culture
& Tourism

Dr. Nicholas Bellantoni

University of Connecticut

Connecticut State Museum of Natural History
Connecticut Archaeology Center

2019 Hillside road, Unit 1023

Storrs, CT 06269-1023

Phone 860-486-5248

E-mail: nicholas,bellantoni@uconn,edu
www.mnh.uconn.edu




	Untitled-1
	Untitled-2
	Untitled-3
	Untitled-4
	Untitled-5
	Untitled-6
	Untitled-7
	Untitled-8
	Untitled-9
	Untitled-10
	Untitled-11
	Untitled-12
	Untitled-13
	Untitled-14
	Untitled-15
	Untitled-16
	Untitled-17
	Untitled-18
	Untitled-19
	Untitled-20
	Untitled-21
	Untitled-22
	Untitled-23
	Untitled-24
	Untitled-25
	Untitled-26
	Untitled-27
	Untitled-28

